S269608

\sim		
(1		
•		
~		
_		

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF CALIFORNIA

LOS ANGELES UNIFIED SCHOOL DISTRICT, Defendant and Petitioner,

V.

SUPERIOR COURT OF CALIFORNIA, COUNTY OF LOS ANGELES, Respondent,

JANE DOE,
Plaintiff and Real Party in Interest.

AFTER A DECISION BY THE CALIFORNIA COURT OF APPEAL SECOND APPELLATE DISTRICT, DIVISION 3, CASE NO. B307389 HON. SHIRLEY K. WATKINS, TRIAL JUDGE LOS ANGELES COUNTY SUPERIOR COURT, CASE NO. BC659059

PETITION FOR REVIEW

TAYLOR & RING, LLP

David M. Ring, SBN 151124 Natalie L. Weatherford, SBN 278522 1230 Rosecrans Avenue, Suite 360 Manhattan Beach, California 90266 Telephone: (310) 209-4100

Email: ring@taylorring.com

ISSUE PRESENTED

Recently enacted Code of Civil Procedure section 340.1(b) permits an award of up to treble damages where a child has been sexually abused as a result of a cover-up by an institution charged with caring for the child. The issue presented here is whether this provision, which was not only intended to deter such abhorrent conduct, but also to encourage victims to come forward in the hopes of unraveling the systemic institutional failures plaguing this State and thereby protect future children from abuse, is *simply and solely punitive* so that it cannot apply against a public entity under Government Code section 818?

INTRODUCTION AND WHY REVIEW SHOULD BE GRANTED

In light of recent revelations exposing child sexual abuse cover-ups by schools, churches, and other youth organizations, the California Legislature passed Assembly Bill (AB) 218, which significantly amended Code of Civil Procedure section 340.1 governing actions for childhood sexual abuse. The bill, which became effective January 1, 2020, greatly expanded the statute of limitations for victims of childhood sexual abuse and revived previously time-barred claims. Significant to this Petition, AB 218 also enabled victims to recover treble damages where their abuse was a result of an institutional cover-up of prior sexual assaults. The issue presented here concerns whether these treble damages may be sought against a public entity that engages in a prohibited cover-up.

Despite the fact that (1) the Legislature clearly indicated that the purpose of the treble damages were not solely punitive (2) public school districts such as the District here constitute a sizable percentage of caregivers where children are victimized by cover-ups and (3) there is absolutely nothing in the text, history or purpose of the Amendment even hinting that the Legislature intended to *exempt* public entities from the

reach of treble damages, the Court of Appeal here concluded that treble damages could not be pursued against public entities. The Court based this conclusion on Government Code section 818 which precludes application of laws to public entities that have as their sole purpose punishment. As explained in this Petition, the Court erred. The subject Amendment is *not* simply and solely intended to punish defendants and, equally as important, exempting public entities from its reach will subvert the Legislature's intent to end the disturbing pattern of institutional cover-ups.

Review by this Court is imperative to restore the Legislature's objectives intended to address the recurrent and horrific problem of institutions covering-up prior sexual abuse of children. The facts here present a paradigmatical example of why the Legislature enacted the treble damages Amendment.

During her freshman year at Pearl Magnet High School, when Plaintiff Jane Doe was just *fourteen-years-old*, Daniel Garcia, a special education paraprofessional assigned to assist a special needs student at the school and an employee of the Los Angeles Unified School District ("the District") began to take an interest in her. (Exh. 1 to Writ Petition, at 7.) During the beginning of the 2014-2015 school year, Garcia began grooming Plaintiff for sexual abuse and by November he had engaged in sexual activity with her. (Id. at 8.) The sexual abuse continued throughout the school year and ended in September 2015, when Garcia was transferred out of Pearl Magnet High School. After Plaintiff bravely reported the sexual abuse to her mother, Garcia was arrested in May 2016 and admitted to the abuse. (Id. at 8-9.)

Tragically, and as alleged by Plaintiff, the District *knew* Garcia was a threat to female students and yet engaged in a concerted effort to hide evidence relating to his sexual abuse of minors. (Id. at 7-9.) Prior to the sexual abuse of Plaintiff, the District was aware that Garcia had set his

sights on another female student and that he was apparently "dating" the student. (Id.) In response to learning this information, the District did not terminate Garcia but instead *transferred* Garcia to Pearl Magnet High School, where he met and eventually abused Plaintiff. (Id.) The District went so far as to create "a false and misleading iStar Incident Report related to Garcia's sexual abuse" of the prior student to cover up what it knew about the abuse and to protect itself from having the information go public. (Id.) As a result of this cover-up, Plaintiff was sexually assaulted by Garcia. (Id.)

While the allegations here reveal the very type of cover-up for which treble damages may be awarded, the Court of Appeal held otherwise. According to the Court, because recovery of up to treble damages necessarily results in a victim recovering damages *beyond actual compensation*, such damages are by definition "punitive" and thus barred by Government Code section 818 when asserted against a public entity. The Court's analysis is mistaken.

Pursuant to Government Code section 818, a public entity is immune from liability for punitive damages. While Section 818 precludes imposition of punitive damages against public entities, it was not intended to proscribe *all* damages with a punitive component; rather, damages which are punitive in nature but also aim to more fully compensate the victim or encourage victims to bring civil actions or otherwise achieve a non-punitive public policy objective are *not* solely punitive and thus fall outside of the ambit of Government Code section 818. (*People ex rel. Younger v. Superior Court* (1976) 16 Cal.3d 30, 35-36; *Kizer v. County of San Mateo* (1991) 53 Cal.3d 139, 146; *Los Angeles County Metropolitan Transp. Authority v. Superior Court* (2004) 123 Cal.App.4th 261, 275.) The immunity afforded to public entities under section 818 is therefore "*narrow*, extending only to damages whose purpose is *simply* and *solely*

punitive or exemplary." (*Los Angeles County Metro.*, 123 Cal.App.4th at p. 275, citing *Kizer, supra*, 53 Cal.3d at p. 146 and *People ex rel. Younger*, 16 Cal.3d at pp. 35-36.)

Thus, a public entity cannot escape civil penalties or damages provisions with a punitive aspect where such remedies serve some non-punitive function and are thus not *solely* punitive. The Legislative history of AB 218 confirms that the Bill's provision for recovery of treble damages where a cover-up has been established is *not* simply or solely punitive, but rather seeks to more fully compensate victims of institutional cover-ups and encourages victims to come forward and report such systemic abuse.

In concluding otherwise, the Court here employed a misguided analysis constrained by the notion that "[c]ompensation is the essential condition." (Slip Opn. 11.) According to the Court, because recovery of treble damages would result in damages *beyond actual compensatory damages*, treble damages are necessarily punitive in nature. The Court's analysis is predicated on the mistaken assumption that the only damages recoverable under the Government Claim Act are *compensatory damages*. However, a victim who has suffered injury at the hands of a public entity may absolutely recover a category of damages that is beyond actual damages, *but not* punitive damages. Statutory penalties, as well as damage enhancements, have long been recognized as viable against public entities.

Despite the court's sweeping proposition that statutory civil penalties or damage enhancements that result in recovery beyond actual damages are per se punitive damages when alleged against a public entity, nothing in the plain language of the statutes at issue nor this Court's prior interpretations of Section 818 support such a finding. Government Code section 818 does not state that a public entity shall be liable only for compensatory damages, but rather states that a public entity is not liable "for damages awarded under Section 3294 of the Civil Code or other

damages imposed primarily for the sake of example and by way of punishing the defendant." (Gov. Code, § 818.) Thus, a category of damages that is beyond compensatory, but not entirely punitive, does not fall within the narrow immunity afforded by Section 818.

Perhaps most troubling with the Court's opinion is the disregard of the Legislature's intent. "Our primary task 'in interpreting a statute is to determine the Legislature's intent, giving effect to the law's purpose.

[Citation.]." (California Bldg. Indus. Ass'n v. State Water Res. Control Bd. (2018) 4 Cal.5th 1032, 1041.) The Court here offered short shrift as to whether the Legislature actually intended Government Code section 818 to apply to shield public entities from the reach of treble damages for engaging in a cover-up of sexual abuse as prescribed by Code of Civil Procedure section 340.1(b). Although the Legislature not once mentioned punitive damages in the legislative history of AB 218, nor mentioned Government Code section 818, nor included any indication in the plain language of the statute that treble damages are akin to punitive damages, the Court held that the Legislature impliedly intended to shield public entities from the reach of the newly created treble damages provision by envisioning such damages to be entirely punitive.

Rejecting statements in legislative committee reports expressly stating that the treble damages provision "is clearly needed *both to compensate victims* who never should have been victims – and would not have been if past sexual assault had been properly brought to light – *and also as an effective deterrent* against individuals and entities who have chosen to protect the perpetrators of sexual assault over the victims," as untethered to any non-punitive purpose (Slip Opn. 16), the Court further rejected the notion that a civil penalty or damages enhancement in a tort action can fall outside of the reach of Section 818 where it is motivated by a non-punitive public policy objective, such as encouraging victims to

come bring civil actions. (Slip Opn. 20-21.) "Even if we agreed with plaintiff that the treble damages provision might incentivize victims to file claims for childhood sexual assault, **this supposed public policy objective** *does not remove the enhanced damages provision* from section 818's purview." (Slip Opn. 28 (emphasis added).) Again, the Court's analysis rests on the flawed premise that a victim can recover only his or her actual compensatory damages under the Government Claims Act.

In an analysis of statutory construction, the intent of the legislature cannot be disregarded. Deference to the very spirit and purpose of the law must guide the statutory analysis as it is the role of the courts to effectuate the law as intended by the Legislature. The Legislature's enactment of the treble damages provision was designed not simply or solely to punish a defendant who has engaged in a cover-up of childhood sexual abuse, but also to more fully compensate victims of institutional cover-ups and to encourage victims to come forward and report such systemic abuse. Incentivizing victims to come forward helps unravel an institution's efforts to cover-up and hide evidence of prior sexual assaults or inappropriate behavior. It is precisely this intention of ending system wide institutional cover-ups of child sexual abuse and protecting against future children from being abused that the treble damages provision was designed to achieve.

In light of the non-punitive objectives that lie at the heart of the treble damages provision, Government Code section 818 does not apply to cloak a public entity defendant with immunity from such damages. The Court's opinion otherwise, insulating public entity defendants from treble damages — which have proven to be a repeated offender of institutional cover-ups —constitutes a devasting blow to the efforts of the Legislature. In the context of childhood sexual abuse, the Legislature has long repudiated the notion that a victim damaged by sexual abuse be *treated differently*

simply because the molester worked for a public rather than a private entity – yet that is precisely the result under the Court's interpretation.

Review is necessary to correct this grave error. There is no justification in the plain language of the statute nor its extensive Legislative history to exempt a public entity from the imperative societal goals the treble damages provision was designed to achieve. This is without doubt an important question of law meriting this Court's attention. (Cal. Rules of Court, rule 8.500 (b)(1).)

STATEMENT OF FACTS AND PROCEDURAL POSTURE

The facts in this petition are primarily derived from the Court's opinion (Slip Opinion) which in turn are taken from the operative complaint (Exhibit 1 to Writ Petition, at 4-20), as is appropriate where the court has by way of a writ petition ordered the trial court to enter an order granting the District's motion to strike the treble damages request. (See *Aubry v. Tri-City Hospital Dist.* (1992) 2 Cal.4th 962, 966-967.)

A. The Sexual Abuse of Plaintiff and the Alleged Cover-Up of Prior Sexual Abuse by the District.

During the 2014-2015 school year, Plaintiff was just fourteen-years-old and a freshman at a high school within the District. (Slip Opn. 2-3.) At the start of the school year, Daniel Garcia, a special education paraprofessional assigned to assist a special needs student at the school and an employee of the District began to take an interest in her and began grooming Plaintiff for sexual abuse. (Slip Opn. 3.) By November he had engaged in sexual activity with Plaintiff. (Slip Opn. 4.) Plaintiff did not disclose the abuse to her parents until March 2016. (Slip Opn. 4.) Upon learning of the abuse, Plaintiff's parents immediately reported it to law

enforcement and in May 2016, Garcia was arrested and charged with criminal offenses stemming from the abuse. (Slip Opn. 4.)

As alleged, prior to the sexual abuse of Plaintiff, the District *knew* Garcia was a threat to female students and yet engaged in a concerted effort to hide evidence relating to his sexual abuse of minors. (Slip Opn. 3-4.)

During the prior school year, in or around February 2014, the District learned that Garcia was involved in a "boyfriend-girlfriend relationship" with a female student, H. M., and that the "relationship" began while Garcia was employed by the District. (Slip Opn. 4.) In response to learning this information, the District did not terminate Garcia. Instead, the District *transferred* Garcia to a different LAUSD high school, where he met and eventually abused Plaintiff. (Id.) The District then created a false incident report related to Garcia's sexual abuse of H. M. As alleged, this was all done by the District in an effort to cover-up Garcia's prior sexual assault of minor female students within the District. (Id.)

Even during Garcia's time at Plaintiff's high school while he was abusing her, the District was aware and actively sought to conceal evidence that Garcia was acting sexually inappropriate with other female students. (Slip Opn. 3-4.) One student even complained to the administration that Garcia had inappropriately touched her – and yet the District did nothing. (Id.) Indeed, Garcia was allowed to remain an employee of the District during the entire 2014-2015 school year. (Id.) As alleged by Plaintiff, it was precisely because the District covered up such inappropriate conduct and failed to take appropriate actions against Garcia, that Garcia was able to continue his grooming conduct directed at Plaintiff, and able to repeatedly sexually abuse her. (Slip Opn., pp. 2-4.)

The allegations concerning the District's mishandling of the prior complaints of inappropriate sexual conduct against Garcia fostered the very environment upon which Garcia could sexually exploit and abuse Plaintiff.

B. Plaintiff's Civil Action and The Trial Court's Order Denying the District's Motion to Strike.

In April 2017, Plaintiff commenced this action the District and Garcia. (Slip Opn. 1, 4) Plaintiff's operative complaint alleged causes of action against the District for negligent hiring, supervision, and retention of an unfit employee; breach of mandatory duty to report suspected child abuse; negligent failure to warn, train, or educate; and negligent supervision of a minor. (Slip Opn. 4.) Pursuant to Code of Civil Procedure section 340.1(b), and in light of her detailed allegations of a cover-up of sexual abuse, Plaintiff included a prayer for treble damages. (Slip Opn. 2, 4.)

The District filed a motion to strike the request for treble damages on the ground they were an improper request for punitive damages and thus precluded by Government Code section 818. (Slip Opn. 2, 5.) Plaintiff opposed the motion and explained that the immunity afforded to public entities under Section 818 extends only to damages whose purpose is *simply and solely punitive* and, here, treble damages is *not* simply and solely punitive, but rather seeks to more fully compensate victims of institutional cover-ups and encourage victims to come forward in the hopes of unraveling an institution's efforts to cover-up and hide evidence of prior sexual assaults. (Slip Opn. 5; Exh. 5, at 70-79.)

The trial court denied the District's motion. (Slip Opn. 2.) The court explained that the "narrow" immunity of Section 818 applies only to damages whose purpose is simply and solely punitive, and here, "[a]s drafted and put into effect on January 1, 2020, *CCP §340.1 makes no reference to punitive damages.*" (Slip Opn. 5; Exh. 11, at 205.) The court noted "the statute's legislative history makes no reference to treble damages being a punishment" and rather, "[t]he legislative intent for treble damages was to compensate the victim." (Id.)

C. The Court of Appeal Grants the District's Petition for Writ of Mandate and in a Published Opinion Concludes that Government Code Section 818 Immunizes the District From Treble Damages.

After its motion to strike was denied, the District filed a petition for writ of mandate. (Slip Opn., pp. 1, 6.) After issuing an order to show cause, the Court granted the District's petition and directed the trial court to enter an order granting the District's motion to strike the treble damages request. (Slip Opn. 6, 30.)

In its May 21, 2021 published opinion, the Court held that the District is "immune from these enhanced damages under section 818." (Slip Opn. 29.) Focusing on damages as being either compensatory or punitive, the Court began by noting that under general tort principles a child victim of sexual abuse *may already recover* for the "added psychological trauma" suffered by a victim who learns that the sexual abused they endured was the result of a cover-up by an institution charged with their care. (Slip Opn. 2-3.) From there, the Court reasoned that because recovery of treble damages would result in damages *beyond actual compensatory damages*, treble damages are necessarily punitive in nature. (Slip Opn. 6-19.)

Compensation is the essential condition. Tort damages that have a compensatory function, although also having a punitive aspect, are not "imposed primarily for the sake of example and by way of punishing the defendant" (Gov. Code, § 818), and a public entity is liable under the Tort Claims Act for the injuries those damages serve to compensate. (*Kizer*, at pp. 145–147; *Younger*, *supra*, 16 Cal.3d at pp. 35–36; *State Dept. of Corrections*, *supra*, 5 Cal.3d at pp. 890–891; *Helfend*, *supra*, 2 Cal.3d at p. 16.)

(Slip Opn. 11.)

The Court further rejected the notion that a civil penalty or damages enhancement in a tort action can fall outside of the reach of Section 818 where it is motivated by a non-punitive public policy objective, such as encouraging victims to come bring civil actions. (Slip Opn., pp. 20-21.) According to the court, it is only where civil penalties are sought outside of a tort action for damages that Section 818 does not apply. "In a tort action, as we have discussed, the essential condition that separates primarily punitive damages, for which a public entity maintains sovereign immunity under section 818, and normal tort damages having a punitive component, for which a public entity waives such immunity, is that the latter class of damages serves a *compensatory function*. Absent a compensatory function, punitive damages are just that—simply and solely punitive— under section 818." (Slip Opn. 21 (emphasis in original).)

Plaintiff did not file a Petition for Rehearing.

ARGUMENT

I.

REVIEW IS NECESSARY TO ADDRESS THIS CRITICAL ISSUE OF FIRST IMPRESSION AND RESTORE THE LEGISLATURE'S INTENT TO IMPOSE TREBLE DAMAGES AGAINST INSTITUTIONAL DEFENDANTS, BOTH PRIVATE AND PUBLIC, WHO HAVE ENGAGED IN A COVER-UP OF SEXUAL ABUSE

This Court reviews appellate decisions "when necessary ... to settle an important question of law." (Cal. Rules of Court, rule 8.500(b)(1).) The Legislature's recent effort to combat the systemic problem of institutional sexual abuse cover-ups and the damage flowing therefrom on children is unquestionably of the utmost importance and worthy of review.

As repeatedly recognized by the Legislature throughout the enactment of Assembly Bill 218, which passed with *unanimous* bipartisan support: "Childhood sexual abuse continues to ruin children's lives and continues to shock the nation because, unfortunately, perpetrators continue to abuse, often with impunity, and *sometimes with the help of third parties who either choose not to get involved or actively cover-up the abuse.*" (Exh. 5, at 74; Exh. 6, at 93-94, 130, 134, 138 (emphasis added).) In response to the "pervasive problem" of institutional cover-ups of child sexual abuse, spanning "schools to sports leagues" and resulting in "continuing victimization and the sexual assault of additional children," the Legislature amended Code of Civil Procedure section 340.1, governing actions for childhood sexual abuse, to include recovery of treble damages where a victim can demonstrate that his or her abuse was the result of a cover-up. (Code Civ. Proc. § 340.1(b); Exh. 5, at 74-75; Exh. 6, at 94, 131, 135, 141.)

As noted by the Court, the legislative history reveals that the treble damages provision is "clearly needed *both to compensate victims who*

never should have been victims- and would not have been if past sexual assault had been properly brought to light- and also as an effective deterrent against individuals and entities who have chosen to protect the perpetrators of sexual assault over the victims.' (Assem. Floor Analysis, Analysis of Assem. Bill No. 218 (2019-2020 Reg. Sess.) as amended Aug. 30, 2019, p. 2, italics added.)" (Slip Opn. 5, 13 (emphasis added).)

Further, and as highlighted by Plaintiff below and recognized in the opinion, the treble damages provision advances a non-punitive "public policy objective." (Slip Opn. 20-21.)

She maintains the provision's focus on cover ups reflects a legislative imperative to bring past childhood sexual abuse to light, and she argues the availability of treble damages advances this objective by offering victims an incentive to come forward to "end the pattern of abuse." Specifically, plaintiff contends treble damages are needed to "encourage those victims who experienced inappropriate encounters with sexual predators that may not have in-and-of themselves been egregious sexual abuse to come forward in a civil action." In those cases, she argues, "inappropriate conduct by a teacher may not give rise to substantial damage awards," but if damages are "enhanced up to three times the actual damages, a victim may be more likely to come forward which may help unravel an institution's efforts to cover[]up and hide evidence of prior sexual assaults or inappropriate behavior."

(Id.) Thus, in addition to the compensatory element for the indescribable damage suffered by a child who learns that the very entity charged with caring for him or her not only knew that the abuser had a propensity for sexual abuse, but also actively covered-up evidence of such prior abuse, an award of treble *damages encourages victims to come forward to end the pattern of abuse*, thereby protecting other children in the community from future abuse.

Despite the Legislature's intention to use treble damages as a tool to breakdown institutional cover-ups of childhood sexual abuse plaguing this Country for far too long, the Court here found that public entities are *exempt* from the reach of treble damages. According to the Court, while a private entity may be liable where a victim demonstrates that he or she was sexually assaulted as the result of a cover-up, no such damages may be imposed against a public entity. The published opinion concludes that the statutory provision permitting damages to be trebled is an improper request for *punitive damages* and thus precluded by Government Code section 818. The court's analysis is mistaken and review by this Court is imperative.

II.

THE NARROW IMMUNITY PROVIDED TO PUBLIC ENTITIES UNDER GOVERNMENT CODE SECTION 818 DOES NOT SHIELD THE DISTRICT FROM TREBLE DAMAGES FOR ENGAGING IN A COVER-UP OF SEXUAL ABUSE

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