IN THE SUPREME COURT OF CALIFORNIA

LOS ANGELES UNIFIED SCHOOL DISTRICT)	S269608
Defendant and Petitioner,)	Ct.App. B307389
v. THE SUPERIOR COURT OF)))	Los Angeles County Super. Ct. No. BC659059
LOS ANGELES COUNTY, Respondent,)	Hon. Shirley K. Watkins
JANE DOE,)	
Plaintiff and Real Party in Interest)))	

ANSWER TO PETITION FOR REVIEW

Calvin House (Bar No. 134902) calvin.house@gphlawyers.com Gutierrez, Preciado & House, LLP 3020 E. Colorado Blvd. Pasadena, CA 91107

Tel: 626-449-2300 Fax: 626-449-2330

Attorneys for Defendant and Petitioner LOS ANGELES UNIFIED SCHOOL DISTRICT

INTRODUCTION

The petition for review mischaracterizes this case as a clash between the policy of compensating and protecting victims of childhood sexual abuse that motivated the enactment of AB 218 and the policy of protecting public entities from punitive damages embodied in Government Code section 818. It is not. Because AB 218 only authorizes an award of treble damages "unless prohibited by another law," the Legislature must have recognized that the treble damages provision would not apply to all defendants. The other provisions of AB 218 that have no such limitation (most notably the lifting of the statute of limitations for the next three years) are more than adequate to carry out that statute's compensatory purpose.

The Court of Appeal's decision is a straightforward application of Government Code section 818's bar to awarding "damages imposed primarily for the sake of example and by way of punishing the defendant" against public entities. This is something that the Courts of Appeal do frequently based on this Court's decisions interpreting section 818 and explaining what makes damages punitive. Those decisions state (1) that punitive damages are by definition in addition to actual damages and beyond the equivalent of harm done, 1 (2) that punitive damages are awarded at the discretion of the fact

¹ State Dept. of Corrections v. Workers' Compensation Appeals Bd. (1971) 5 Cal.3d 885, 891.

finder,² and (3) that treble damages have a punitive aspect.³ The treble damages available under AB 218 qualify as punitive under that guidance.

AB 218 is relatively new. There have not been any decisions that reached a conclusion contrary to that of the Court of Appeal in this case. Should conflicting interpretations emerge in the future, the Court may grant review to secure uniformity of decision at that time. There is no urgency to do so right now.

² Kizer v. County of San Mateo (1991) 53 Cal.3d 139, 147.

³ Wells v. One 2 One Learning Foundation (2006) 39 Cal.4th 1164, 1196, fn. 20; Harris v. Capital Growth Investors XIV (1991) 52 Cal.3d 1142, 1172; Imperial Merchant Services, Inc. v. Hunt (2009) 47 Cal.4th 381, 394.

LEGAL PRINCIPLES

Government Code section 818

Government Code section 818 provides that "a public entity is not liable for damages . . . imposed primarily for the sake of example and by way of punishing the defendant." The provision was enacted as part of the original Tort Claims Act on recommendation of the California Law Revision Commission. The Commission explained that "such damages are imposed to punish a defendant for oppression, fraud or malice. They are inappropriate where a public entity is involved, since they would fall upon the innocent taxpayers." "[T]he section was intended . . . to limit [the state's] exposure to liability for actual compensatory damages in tort cases" and "to protect [public entities'] tax-funded revenues from legal judgments in amounts beyond those strictly necessary to recompense the injured party." 6

In rejecting a constitutional challenge to the provision, the Court of Appeal quoted the following explanation of the policy basis for such a rule from the Florida Supreme Court:

Since punishment is the objective, the people who would bear the burden of the award—the citizens—are the self-same group who are expected

⁴ Salinas v. Souza & McCue Constr. Co. (1967) 66 Cal.2d 217, 228, fn. 1, quoting 4 Cal. Law Revision Com. Rep. (1963) Recommendation Relating to Sovereign Immunity, p. 817. See also State Department of Corrections, supra, 5 Cal.3d at pp. 887-888.

⁵ Kizer, supra, 53 Cal.3d at p. 146 (emphasis supplied).

⁶ Wells, supra, 39 Cal.4th at p. 1196, fn. 20.

to benefit from the public example which the punishment makes of the wrongdoer.

. . .

The deterrence element likewise adds little justification for this type of award against a municipality. In the first place it is to be assumed that the municipal officials will do their duty and if discipline of a wrongdoing employee is indicated, appropriate measures will be taken without a punitive award.

Further, a huge award against the [public entity] would not necessarily deter other employees who generally would be unlikely to be able to pay a judgment assessed against them personally.⁷

Although the petition for review repeatedly asserts that section 818 only bars damages that are "simply and solely" punitive, the reach of the statute is not so narrow. That language does not appear in the statute, which bans damages imposed "primarily" for the sake of example and punishment. Further, this Court has stated that section 818 bars application to public entities of statutory remedies that are only "partially penal."8

The "simply and solely "language first appeared in the *Younger* case, where this Court said: "Damages which are punitive in nature, but not 'simply' or solely punitive in that they fulfill 'legitimate and fully justified compensatory functions,' have been held not to be punitive damages within

⁷ McAllister v. South Coast Air Quality Mgmt. Dist. (1986) 183 Cal.App.3d 653, 660, quoting Fisher v. City of Miami (Fla. 1965) 172 So.2d 455, 457.

⁸ *DuBois v. Workers' Comp. Appeals Bd.* (1993) 5 Cal.4th 382, 398.

the meaning of section 818 of the Government Code." It was repeated without further analysis in the *San Francisco Civil Service Association* and *Kizer* cases. 10 However, neither of the decisions cited by the *Younger* court to support its statement used that language.

In Helfend v. Southern California Rapid Transit District, 11 the Court determined that "the collateral source rule is not simply punitive in nature," and explained that section 818 did not apply, because it would enable a defendant "to avoid payment of full compensation for the injury inflicted." The decision does not contain the word "solely." In State Department of Corrections v. Workers' Compensation Appeals Board, 12 the Court held that the increased benefits available under Labor Code section 4553 for serious and willful misconduct could be recovered against a public entity. Section 818 did not apply, because "an ordinary award of benefits does not fully compensate an employee for his injuries and other detriment and that the purpose of the additional allowance was to provide more nearly full compensation in those cases in which the employer was guilty of aggravated misconduct." ¹³ The decision does not contain the word "solely."

⁹ People ex rel. Younger v. Superior Court of Alameda County (1976) 16 Cal.3d 30, 35-36.

¹⁰ See San Francisco Civil Service Assn. v. Superior Court (1976) 16 Cal.3d 46; Kizer, supra, 53 Cal.3d at p. 145.

¹¹ (1970) 2 Cal.3d 1, 10, 14.

¹² 5 Cal.3d at p. 891.

¹³ *Id.* at p. 889.

Younger itself involved the application of section 818 to statutory penalties assessed for an oil spill. The Court determined that they were not barred by section 818 because they were intended to provide compensation to the State for the harm done by an oil spill, and because the law provided for the penalties collected to be paid into a fund for cleaning up the water. Since the case concerned penalties and not damages, and the statute clearly had a non-punitive purpose, there was no need for the Court to state that section 818 only applied to damages that were solely punitive. Hence, that characterization of section 818 was not necessary to the decision and should not control the application of section 818 to other remedies. That is further demonstrated by this Court's *DuBois* decision, where it declined to apply a remedy that was only "partially penal" to a public entity. 16

AB 218

AB 218, enacted in 2019 and effective January 1, 2020, was a response to continuing concern about childhood sexual abuse, and the restrictions on recovery by victims imposed by the statute of limitations:

Childhood sexual abuse continues to ruin children [sic] lives and continues to shock the nation

¹⁴ *Younger*, *supra*, 16 Cal.3d at pp. 38-39.

¹⁵ City of San Diego v. Bd. of Trustees of California State Univ. (2015) 61 Cal.4th 945, 958-959 (the statement of a principle not necessary to the decision is dictum that need not be followed).

¹⁶ 5 Cal.4th at p. 398.

because, unfortunately, perpetrators continue to abuse, often with impunity, and sometimes with the help of third parties who either choose not to get involved or actively cover-up the abuse. Whether the abuse occurred through gymnastics, swimming, school, or a religious institution, too many children have been victims of abuse and their lives have been forever impacted by that abuse. Despite the lifetime of damage that this abuse causes its victims, the state's statute of limitations restricts how long actions can be brought to recover for damages caused by childhood sexual abuse. In an effort to allow more victims of childhood sexual assault to be compensated for their injuries and, to help prevent future assaults by raising the costs for this abuse, this bill extends the civil statute of limitations for childhood sexual assault by 14 years, revives old claims for three years, and eliminates existing limitations for claims against public institutions.

[Exhibit 6 to Writ Petition, pp. 93-94]

When AB 218 was introduced, it did not limit the defendants against whom treble damages could be awarded. The Assembly Judiciary Committee staff analysis characterized the provision as "expos[ing] those who cover up the sexual abuse of children to additional punishment." [Exhibit 6 to Writ Petition, p. 146] Following opposition from several education agencies on August 13, 2019 [Exhibit 8 to Writ Petition, pp. 185-187], the bill was amended on August 30, 2019, to add the phrase "unless otherwise prohibited by another law." [Exhibit 3 to Writ Petition, pp. 43-44] The petition for review has not identified any law other than section 818 that would bar imposition of treble damages.

Therefore, it can be inferred that the Legislature did not intend to authorize awards of treble damages against public entities.

Even if the Legislature had not provided that clue to its intent, courts would still be bound by the principle that "absent express words to the contrary, governmental agencies are not included within the general words of a statute."17 Consistent with that principle, AB 218 and earlier enactments dealing with civil claims for childhood sexual abuse have expressly addressed the effect of those enactments on statutory restrictions on public entity liability. AB 218 amended Government Code section 905 to expressly expand the claims exempted from the claim filing requirement. In 2018, SB 1053 expressly exempted childhood sexual abuse claims from procedural hurdles enacted by local public entities under the Government Claims Act (see Government Code section 935, subdivision (f)). In 2008, SB 640 expressly provided that childhood sexual abuse claims were not subject to the 6-month claim filing requirement of the Government Claims Act (see Government Code section 905, subdivision (m)).

¹⁷ Wells, supra, 39 Cal.4th at p. 1196, fn. 20.

CONCLUSION

This Court's role is to "secure harmony and uniformity in the decisions [of the appellate courts], their conformity to the settled rules and principles of law, a uniform rule of decision throughout the state, a correct and uniform construction of the constitution, statutes, and charters, and, in some instances, a final decision by the court of last resort of some doubtful or disputed question of law." ¹⁸

The Court of Appeal's decision in this case does not implicate any of those aspects of the Court's role. The decision applied settled principles to reach a fair result. Victims of childhood sexual abuse may recover full compensation for their damages from culpable public entities no matter when the abuse occurred, thus fulfilling the main purpose of AB 218. But, public entities are protected from jury verdicts "beyond those strictly necessary to recompense the injured party," ¹⁹ as required by section 818.

The Court should deny the petition for review.

Calvin House Gutierrez, Preciado & House, LLP

¹⁸ *People v. Davis* (1905) 147 Cal. 346, 348; Cal. Rules of Court, rule 8.500(b).

 $^{^{19}}$ Wells, $supra,\,39$ Cal.4th at p. 1219.